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Foreword





A few years back I was invited to be the guest on BBC Radio Four’s Desert Island Discs. I had to choose the eight records I couldn’t live without. There were tracks by the Rolling Stones, Van Morrison and others. But at the end of the show, presenter Sue Lawley then asked, ‘And if you could only have one of these records, Ian …?’ Well, there was only one contender: ‘Solid Air’ by John Martyn.


The strange thing is, I’d travelled down to London that day for the recording, and had managed to find time for lunch with my literary agent. The sun was shining and we could hear gruff laughter from one of the pavement tables. When we left, I saw John Martyn seated there with a couple of friends – and I bottled it, lacking the courage to go up to him and say ‘Guess why I’m here?’


I’d seen Martyn play live just once, around 1977 or ‘78 at the old Odeon in Edinburgh. A school pal called John Scott had loaned me Solid Air a couple of years before, and I’d become a fan. When I worked as a hi-fi reviewer in London, I would use the title track as my ‘reference work’, comparing turntables, amps and speakers by playing it. By then I’d bought a slew of other John Martyn albums. I loved everything about him – the voice that somehow blended gravel with butterscotch; the majestic guitar-playing; the tunes; the lyrics. From interviews, I knew he could be ‘difficult’ and that his health was suffering. Fans told stories and offered anecdotes. It was sometimes impossible to separate the legend from the truth. That’s why it was such a pleasure to pick up John Neil Munro’s Some People Are Crazy when it was first published in 2007. Munro is obviously a fan, but the book is no hagiography. The John Martyn who emerges is a complex figure with a huge appetite for life to go with his boundless musical talent. There’s plenty of humour, too, to leaven the darker reminiscences.


And then I heard that John Martyn had died. I felt numb, but then was invited round to a friend’s house for a night of celebration – our ‘wake’ for a man we’d admired. Three of us sat and listened to our favourite songs, adding memories of gigs, parties, record shops and girlfriends. John Martyn had soundtracked our lives for over thirty years. That music remains essential, but to get to know the man behind it – Johnny Too Bad – you really need this book. Tuck in.
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Edinburgh


2010



















Introduction to new edition







You can’t mess with Father Time, can you? He’s going to catch you, whether you run fast or slow.


John Martyn





Well, old Father Time finally caught up with John and he died on 29 January 2009. A bout of double pneumonia did for John but even after reading all the fulsome obituaries it still seemed unbelievable that he had really passed away this time. Throughout his life John was a magnet for misfortune and the list of ailments and calamities he survived was genuinely astounding: an exploding pancreas, a leg amputation, impalement on a fence post and a car crash with a cow were the most eye-catching, though during the research for this edition I discovered that he nearly died once from seizures and almost drowned after slamming his head into a rock while swimming underwater. Fist fights were a regular occurrence in John’s adult life and he often claimed that he had been shot at and stabbed a few times. In his day John was also a heroin user, fiendish cocaine addict and habitual hash head.


And then there was the booze … John Martyn liked a drink in the same way as vampires are partial to sinking their teeth into the creamy white neck of a chaste young girl. John adored drinking and loved pubs, saying they were the only place that lost souls really felt they belonged. Over the years John must have drank colossal amounts of vodka, rum and cider. His friend, the great jazz saxophonist Andy Sheppard, still talks with incredulity of seeing Martyn down a full bottle of Bacardi in one swig as he prepared for a gig. Along with the drugs, the alcohol powered John to amazing artistic achievements in the 1970s but it also scarred him later in life. For over forty years, he played a dangerous game of chance with the demon alcohol. In January 2009 it hacked him down … no matter what it says on his death certificate.




*





The first time I saw John Martyn play live was in tiny smoke-filled club above the Edinburgh Playhouse in 1980. John was at the top of his game on that sultry summer’s night, an effortlessly brilliant musician with an engaging stage manner that seemed to reinforce the musical vibe that he was a genuine, gentle peace-loving good guy who wouldn’t even talk badly to, never mind harm, a fly. When I mentioned this to a friend who vaguely knew his first wife, the reply was quick and to the point … ‘no he’s not, he’s a complete bastard!’ This dichotomy between the mild music and the malevolent, wild artiste never left me and a few years back I decided to write a book to try and find out who the real John Martyn was.


I first spoke to John after visiting his hometown in Kilkenny in the summer of 2004. Unable to speak to him during that visit I left a note behind the bar in his local boozer explaining who I was and why I wanted to write his life story. A couple of weeks later my mobile phone rang … ‘Hi, it’s Johnny Martyn, where are you? … Stornoway? What the fuck are you doing in Stornoway? I thought you were in Thomastown! I was going to take you for a drink!’ Once the confusion was cleared up, he agreed to help me and this book is the end result. Along the way I talked to acquaintances who genuinely adored John. His closest friend, Danny Thompson, summed it up best by telling Q in September 1989:




I’d do anything for John Martyn: if he phoned me up and said ‘I’m in the Pennines and my car’s knackered’, I’d be on my way. It was a blessing from heaven that we were able to rave together so much in the 1970s and live because we lost a lot of friends who raved only half as much. He’s the biggest, softest teddy bear, a generous, warm, sensitive person and he spends a lot of the time covering it up.







By way of complete contrast, one former manager refused to speak to me and sounded genuinely fearful at the mention of John’s name. Before he put the phone down he said:




You must not come to me for praiseworthy things on John Martyn. I’ve experienced his darker side much too often. I’m not interested in adding to the myth of the man. I don’t enjoy talking about John Martyn. If you cannot say something good about somebody, don’t say anything. I find it hard to say anything meritorious about John Martyn.





That was the way it was with John. Some people loved him and talked fondly of a warm, generous and loving individual. Others genuinely loathed him and recalled tales of his violent temper, dark moods and drunken debacles.


Music critics were equally divided over Martyn’s abilities. In the early 1980s, when John was hopelessly out of fashion, NME still proclaimed that his music was the very definition of cool. As Nick Kent commented in the paper on 29 November 1980, John’s music at its height possesses that rarest of essences: real soul. Twenty years later, in December 2000, Uncut magazine’s David Stubbs argued that John had made ‘some of the most palpable, almost physically emotional, music ever recorded’. Other critics were less charitable and likened his singing to that of a horribly wounded bear. In NME, 9 October 1982, Julie Burchill – at her most acidic – dismissed John as someone who ‘cooked up aural monosodium glutamate in a melting-pot mind fit for jingles’.


The child of a broken marriage, Martyn was born Iain David McGeachy1 and was brought up in a Glasgow home that echoed to the sound of music. His dazzling ability as a guitarist soon won him acclaim playing alongside his mentor Hamish Imlach. After moving to London he became a fixture on the Soho folk scene, before hitching a ride with the formative label Island Records and releasing a string of the most influential and best loved albums of the 1970s. From Bless the Weather to Grace and Danger, Martyn forged a distinct sound, fusing acoustic and electric music, jazz, blues and reggae in a breathtaking, groundbreaking concoction. In an industry riddled with clones and copycats, no one sounded quite like him. Motivated by the soaring ecstasy of finding love and the sharp pain of losing it he crafted scores of beautiful songs. His herbally inspired live shows became the stuff of legend and he could sell out concert venues around the globe. He remains an influence on every fresh generation of rock stars – acts as diverse as U2, The Verve, China Crisis, Paolo Nutini, The Boy Who Trapped The Sun, Portishead and Beth Orton (who called him ‘The Guv’nor’) all cite John as a major inspiration.


But the music was only half the story. While he produced feather-light, gorgeous love songs, his own private life fell apart in a spectacular way and his two marriages were ripped asunder. Martyn’s life became blighted by drug dependency and chronic alcoholism. He took to hanging out with gangsters and earned a reputation as a heavy individual not to be messed with. Rumours of violence were commonplace. As one of his close colleagues said: ‘It’s hearsay, but it’s a lot of hearsay.’


The bass guitarist Dave Pegg told me how he had moments working with John when he looked in his eyes and was genuinely scared. John revelled in this notoriety, deliberately cultivating a bad-boy image and became a hellraiser to rival the likes of Keith Moon and Oliver Reed. His fellow Scots singer-songwriter Eddi Reader talks of nights on the town with John but admits that she needed the strength of Hercules just to keep up with him.


A renowned womaniser, Martyn claimed to have fathered twelve children in and out of wedlock (others say three children is a more realistic count). Eventually the frenzied lifestyle sapped his creativity and his records became less consistent; overproduced and riddled with drum machines. Back in the 1980s using those devices might have seemed brave and experimental – now they just sound terribly dated. His public profile steadily diminished and as his musical reputation faded he became better known for his personal frailties. While his celebrity admirers Phil Collins, Eric Clapton, Paul Weller and Dave Gilmour became global superstars, Martyn never even troubled the UK album chart top ten and eventually ended up bankrupt. But John had few regrets about the way things worked out – as he often said; he chose the route and the vehicle. When fame stared him in the face, John wilfully rejected it and opted instead for experimenting with all types of music, even hip hop.


Late on in life, Martyn lived in relative tranquillity with his long-term girlfriend in Ireland. But he remained a mess of contradictions. His music was a mirror-image of his personality – veering unsettlingly between the tender and the turbulent. The same man who could write a lyric as benign and beautiful as ‘Curl around me like a fern in the spring’ could also break the ribs of one of his managers during a vicious brawl. In a good mood he was the soul of any party and advocated the benefits of Buddhism and pacifism. John could also be an extremely generous man and an incurable romantic. On one of the occasions I met him, we drove through his teenage stomping ground in the South Side of Glasgow and passed one of the many Asian shops selling beautiful lengths of cloth for saris. John told the driver to stop and sent him into the shop to buy twenty pounds’ worth of the material. Half an hour later he presented it to his slightly bemused Irish girlfriend in their hotel room. But on other occasions his temper flared and he became stubborn, arrogant, angry and resentful about the music industry he despised. Even he admitted that on those occasions he was a nasty person, best avoided.


He was aware of the paradox at the heart of his work, how a man who produced such loving gentle music could at the same time live such a self-destructive lifestyle. As he said in Q in May 1990:




All my songs have always been utter misery or lunatic belligerence. I actually think those two sides are a racial trait in the Scottish … I don’t want to be able to control my moods. I probably am a little schizophrenic, exacerbated by all the raving over the years. I’m either John Wayne the bully or John the daddy and lover. But I have enough self-control and if I could control myself more, I think the music would be much less interesting. I’d probably be a great deal richer but I’d have had far less fun and I’d be making really dull music.





I hope this book will shine a little more light on where John Martyn came from and what factors motivated him along the way. The aim is to discover the roots and the consequences of both his musical brilliance and his chaotic lifestyle. During my research John spoke to me and also helped smooth the way so that others would also offer their views, but I cannot claim to have known John Martyn well. So wherever possible I’ve opted to rely on the oral testimonies of those that were present at the time rather than offer intrusive personal views. For example, I think most readers would prefer to learn Ralph McTell’s opinions on the relative strengths of the main players on the London folk scene of the late 1960s rather than read any assessment of mine. I’ve also spoken to over forty people who either knew John well or helped create the sound of those classic albums. Some of those interviewed would only speak anonymously while other former associates reacted with a mix of fear and anger at the mention of Martyn’s name. To paraphrase the words of one of his most famous songs, some people are crazy about him, but some people just could not stand to see his face.


Thanks to the following for taking time to answer my questions: John Martyn; Linda Dunning; Danny Thompson; Dr Kirk McGeachy; Spencer Cozens; Ralph McTell; Bridget St John; Andy Sheppard; Claire Hamill; Dave Pegg; Michael Chapman; Steve Tilston; Wizz Jones; Daisy Flowers; Dave Mattacks; Eddi Reader; Simon Climie; John Glover; Sandy Roberton; Martin Levan; Paul Wheeler; Robin Frederick; Tim Denley; Phill Brown; Brian Young; James MacPherson; Hans van den Berk; Steve ‘Monk’ Moncure; Susanne Mead; Robert Kirby; Alan Dunbar; AMN; Mo Barnes; Ann Sadler; Peter Wright; and Alec Milne; James McNair for access to unpublished interviews and John Mackinnon for help with photography. Thanks also for assistance to: Teresa Walsh; Calum Angus Macdonald; Scott McGowan; Stephen Manzor; Ann Macdonald; Gabrielle Drake; Cally at Bryter Music; Martin Kielty; Vivienne Nicoll; Eddie Mould, CMP Entertainment; Kate Pool, Society of Authors; Ken Goodwin of Shawlands Academy; Colin Braham; Dee Harrington; George MacCallum; David Clayton; Pippa Hall, Monkey Business PR; Christine Waters; Mandy Moncure; Roy Corkill; Aileen McCulloch, Carluke Gazette; Robert Meek, Hastings Observer; staff at Stornoway Library; the National Library of Scotland; the Music Library, Edinburgh; ‘Swedish Peter’; Neville Moir, Alison Rae and Sarah Morrison at Polygon.


For this new edition, particular credit goes to Donnie Barclay, Davie MacFarlane, Iain Hamilton, Michael and Mary Furlong.


All quotations are from interviews with the author, unless specified.






1. A couple of his close friends from school told me that back then he spelled his first name Ian. The registrar’s scrawl on Martyn’s birth certificate could read either way. But when I asked Martyn he replied ‘I have two eyes and two i’s.’ So Iain it is.

























A deep dark hurt







There is a deep dark hurt within John Martyn, which stems from way back. He may well have had a happy childhood. I had a happy childhood but I was a deserted child from a broken home and we went without and had lots of things missing in our lives. No one goes on stage without seeking approval and admiration for their talent. John was especially like that, if not you just go and play your chops in some wee jazz band. John wanted more.


Ralph McTell




 





I know there is a lot of angst in John’s music and I think that kind of comes from the fact that his mother sort of disowned him at an early age. I guess he must have had a hard time growing up without a mother figure.


Kirk McGeachy





The boy who would one day be known as John Martyn, grew up as Iain David McGeachy in the Queens Park district of Glasgow to the south of the River Clyde that bisects the city. He was brought up by his father and granny in the top two floors of a traditional sandstone tenement at number 10 Tantallon Road. It was a safe, idyllic setting for a youngster to grow up in. Turn right at his front door and two minutes’ walk along the road you find Langside Primary where young Iain attended school. Turn left and across the road is the 148-acre Queens Park with its manicured lawns, tennis courts and boating pond, where he would spend many happy days playing with his schoolmates. And a couple of blocks away stands Shawlands Academy where he would become a star pupil between 1960 and 1965.


The McGeachy family had roots in Fife and the Kintyre area in the west of Scotland, where one of Iain’s ancestors was known as the white witch of Gigha. Fishermen on the tiny picturesque island off the coast of the Kintyre peninsula came to her for advice on the best places to catch herring. Iain’s paternal grandparents, William and Janet, raised a family of seven in Edinburgh, where William owned a successful garage in the Gorgie district. The family lived just off the Royal Mile and Iain’s father Tommy was schooled at Moray House Primary. Besides Tommy, there were three other brothers, Eddie, Ross and Robert along with three sisters, Janet, Agnes and Kitty. (At the time of writing the first edition of this biography, Agnes was the only surviving sibling and lived on Islay.) When William McGeachy developed chronic arthritis the family moved out of the city centre to Apple Tree Cottage in the suburban village of Newbridge. But when William died in the late 1940s, Janet moved the family west to Glasgow, buying the Tantallon Road property and converting the top floor into a boarding house, which provided valuable income.


Iain’s early years were anything but conventional. His parents had a great love of classical music and both were professional light-opera singers; his mum was a trained soprano, his dad a tenor. They plied their trade in the variety theatres that dominated the post-war entertainment scene, belting out Gilbert and Sullivan songs while dressed in Victorian garb. (At one such show, young Iain was introduced to Roy Rogers and Trigger.) Iain’s father, with his theatrical waxed moustache which made him look very much the part of an operatic singer, was also a mainstay at Burns’ Suppers. Iain was born on 11 September 1948, in New Malden, Surrey, while his parents – formally named on his birth certificate as Thomas Paterson McGeachy and Beatrice Jewitt of 58 Beechcroft Avenue, New Malden – were on the road performing. They separated soon after; eventually divorcing when Iain was just five and his father took custody of the boy. Inevitably his upbringing was fractured and made even more complicated by the fact that his dad soon moved back north of the border, leaving his mother to live in the Home Counties, including a spell when she stayed on a houseboat in Kingston-upon-Thames. As he grew older, Iain would travel south to spend a large part of the summer holidays with his mother and stepfather. To make matters even more complicated, Iain never really got on with his stepfather and he often stayed with his mother’s sister and her husband in Hampton Court instead. One lasting effect of this split upbringing was on Iain’s accent – throughout his adult life it fluctuated between Glaswegian and Cockney with unsettling ease.


The McGeachy household on Tantallon Road where his father and his granny Janet brought up Iain echoed to the sound of music. It wasn’t uncommon for passers-by to hear Tommy’s wonderful singing voice streaming from an open window as he practised for performances. Even the old man’s pet canaries, which were kept in upstairs rooms, did their bit. When guests visited, Tommy would take them to see the birds; at the shake of a matchbox the birds would start singing in unison. Grandmother Janet was a fine piano player and all Iain’s aunts and uncles weren’t shy when it came to singing when they visited. There were also relations in the seaside town of Largs who were stage entertainers. It all helped to instil a sense of theatrics in young Iain. The house had thirteen rooms, many of which housed a piano and Victorian-style family sing-songs around the piano were a regular occurrence with all concerned launching with gusto into traditional Scots songs. Love of this music would stay with Iain throughout his adult life. Presbyterian psalms were also often heard in a household that respected religion without ever becoming obsessive about it. It was a cultured background for a precocious child. Iain could read by the age of four and a few years later he was apparently an admirer of the French Impressionists, badgering his dad for prints of Chagall paintings.


Iain’s first cousin Kirk, from Anstruther in Fife, remembered visiting the house regularly and talked fondly of the happy atmosphere:




As you walked in there was a long hallway with a big sitting room and three bedrooms downstairs, and also a big kitchen which had a Raeburn stove with a pantry off to the side. We spent a lot of our time in that kitchen, sitting around a great big long table. At the far end of the hall was the stair up to the next level. And up that stair were all these wee bedrooms on either side of a corridor. Iain slept in one of the bedrooms downstairs. The sitting room had beautiful Victorian furniture, a piano and a pair of Ghurkha knives that my own father, Eddie, had brought back from India, hanging by the ornate fireplace. The room had great big bay windows with views out to Queens Park and lovely smells of scented geraniums. It was quite an imposing room.


Tantallon Road was very close to one of the gates of the park and on Sunday afternoons we would go over to the boating pond and sail our wee toy yachts and walk around the park. Shawlands at that time was not a rough sort of area; not totally well-to-do, but certainly not like some of the poorer areas of Glasgow at that time.





In fact it was a solid middle-class, almost genteel neighbourhood. The McGeachys shared the tenement with a pair of spinster sisters called The Winchesters; a Jewish brother and sister, Annie and Isaac Levinson; and a married Russian couple with communist leanings.


As a young man Tommy McGeachy had harboured ambitions to study divinity and had worked for the Scottish Bible Society, sending bibles to Africa. But when he was called up to serve with the navy in Italy during the Second World War, Tommy put his gifted vocal chords to use singing for the British Forces Network before taking up singing professionally after hostilities ceased. Inevitably, the war left a lasting impression on Iain’s father; John Martyn later recalled how the horrors of combat and seeing his dead comrades seemed to drain Tommy’s own confidence and ambition.




When he came back he could only think of having a good time. Didn’t want to work. And as far as I can see he lost faith in the whole of society. He was a very sweet man but the war just destroyed his brain, took his illusions and his innocence away. (Mojo, October 1994)





After the war, John’s father worked fitfully in a wholesale grocery business, but continued to sing in variety under the pseudonym of ‘Russell Paterson – Scotland’s Troubadour’ (Paterson was his mother’s maiden name). While performing was his main focus, he cared well for his son, teaching him to ride a bike and also taking him for long walks in the country at weekends, where young Iain learnt to shoot and freshwater-fish, an obsession that stayed with him throughout his life. One of his uncles would also take Iain out on his fishing boat, which nurtured an interest in bird watching. At the age of twelve he was made an honorary member of the British Ornithologists Club for sending them the rings of over 100 seagulls. Iain would also later attribute his not inconsiderable success in bedding women to his father’s tuition!


John Martyn would later forcefully deny any ideas that, as a single child from a broken marriage, he led a dysfunctional or unhappy childhood. He maintained that those were happy days, telling Sunday Herald journalist Alan Taylor:




It was great. I didn’t have any brothers and sisters to wreck my train set or annoy me. I was very happy and I was brought up by my granny; and grannies are awfully good at bringing up wee boys.





Granny Janet was a fine substitute mum – a loving and stable influence on young Iain – bringing him up in a quasi-Victorian way; all mustard baths, hair washing with carbolic soap, and foot massages. Iain’s lifelong friend Davie MacFarlane told me how he remembered Janet as a lovely person who used to make fine homemade lemonade and would also cook her own spaghetti bolognaise sauce – quite a novelty back in the early 1960s when most people only got it out of a can. Kirk McGeachy also spoke highly of Janet and the positive influence she had on young Iain.




His granny Janet did Iain proud really. She was a wonderful lady. If anything came up that was sad and was going to cause a situation, she would always say, ‘Oh, we won’t talk about that!’ She would just get on with life and look at the positives. She learned that because it must have been hard when she lost her husband and was left with her young family. My father was in his late twenties when that happened and he basically became the head of the family. Tommy and he went out and worked and provided for the family.





John Martyn talked fondly to me about the kindness shown to him by Granny Janet. 




She was an amazing character – all she needed after a war and seven kids of her own was a wee man like me. Very few people would take on that responsibility these days. Without people like her the whole world would go to pot.





But like the rest of the family Janet had a taste for alcohol and used to tipple on the quiet in the kitchen – drinking out of eggcups with the bottle well hidden. Blissfully unaware that she was influencing a life of heavy drinking, Janet introduced young Iain to his first dram of whisky to help wake him up for his 4 a.m. milk round. A few years later and still way before the legal drinking age, Iain first experienced getting drunk:




I was nine years old and it was at number two Hampton Court Way in high summer, the middle of August. My Uncle Ray, who loved me like a son, gave me two glasses of Bulmers cider. It set me on my arse. I’ll never forget it – I was doing somersaults and I ended up falling down the stairs!





By his mid-teenage years Iain would be taking the rite of passage of many young Scots.




We used to drink a half-bottle of fortified wine and smash the empty bottle against a wall, and then a bottle of McEwan’s light ale. If one didn’t get you, the other would!





By the time he had graduated to secondary school, Iain was a bright young pupil, excelling at English and Art, eager to learn and popular with classmates. Tall and athletic, he was also into sport, but unlike most Glaswegian kids, football wasn’t his preference. Although he remembered going to see the now defunct Third Lanark, he had disdain for football and his favourite sports were rugby and cricket. He told me:




I used to play fly-half or flanker. I liked the position at the end of the scrum where you could nail the opposing scrum-half, that was my favourite position! I used to torment scrum-halfs. I was a good all-round cricketer too but I was best in the field, a good catcher in the slips. I used to play in the Clydesdale cricket team. It was always very relaxing.





The love of cricket never really left him – later in life John Martyn played for village teams while living in England. As to just how good a rugby player he was at school, Davie MacFarlane comments:




During the rugby season we would both play in the school teams. He was an ok player but not that good … put it this way he never made the first fifteen for the school.





In the 1960s Shawlands Academy was a well respected school that allowed Iain to build upon his natural intelligence and prosper. (The fact that the school’s most infamous former pupil is Moors Murderer Ian Brady is seldom mentioned these days.) It was a large school, split into Junior and Senior Secondary – with a roll of over 1,500 pupils, some travelling from the new South Side housing schemes. The pupils learned under a system that would now be considered austere. Boys and girls had separate gym areas and playgrounds; errant youngsters were kept under control by the use of the belt; and school uniform was mandatory. Anyone spotted not wearing school blazer and badge would be sent home. A quick trawl through old school magazines shows that Iain McGeachy won the Jubilee Memorial Prize in English and – as a pupil of class 3B1 – he represented the school in an inter-schools quiz on Scottish Television called Round-up in 1963. When – forty years later – I mentioned the Top of the Form-style show to John Martyn, he broke into spontaneous laughter, and claimed that they had won the competition. (In fact they lost narrowly by three points.)




I don’t remember being beaten! Anyway I only got one question wrong – something about non-ferrous metals!





If they had asked him questions about beat poets or existentialists, young Iain wouldn’t have let the school down. By his mid-teens he was starting to rebel. After a spell as a sharply dressed Mod – complete with Vespa scooter and a taste for Prince Buster and The Four Tops – the teenager was now getting more experimental. He told me:




I was fairly seriously into the guy who wrote One Flew Over the Cuckoo’s Nest, Ken Kesey. My father gave it to me when I was fifteen – which was strange because my father was a very straight man. I liked Naked Lunch too, and all the junkies like Burroughs and Alexander Trocchi. It was hip to be a beatnik back then, not a hippie. My father, he allowed me everything, he was very cool. When I had my first smoke of ganja he said, ‘What’s that, son?’ I said, ‘That’s hash, daddy.’ He told me to heat it up properly!





Besides the beat writers, Iain also had more conventional tastes in literature: Robert Burns’ poem ‘To a Mountain Daisy’ would remain a favourite throughout his life. But Kirk McGeachy recalls how Iain’s dad came to worry that his son’s increasingly offbeat interests would harm his academic career.




Iain was always very, very good at English and debating, and he read a lot. He passed Higher English with flying colours without hardly any studying. He had a very good brain on him, though his father was always a bit pissed off with him for not trying harder at his studies. There was certainly a period there where they thought he was a bit of a waster.


Iain would go down to London, especially in the summertime, and he would come back from the big city with fancy clothes like neat jeans and wonderfully colourful striped jerseys that really impressed me! I’m younger than him by a year and I kind of looked up to him because he was the older cousin. I was the town boy from Anstruther and he was the city boy, a pretty cool guy. I would say that overall he had a pretty good relationship with his dad. His father was a dapper, even-keeled, loving sort of chap who wouldn’t really raise a finger to anyone. He liked a pint back then, but nothing to excess. Most of the time they got on very well; there were arguments when Iain was in his later years at Shawlands Academy and he wouldn’t put his head into studying fully. But there was nothing major.





Davie MacFarlane remembers that Tommy McGeachy could be strict with his son and Davie got the impression that he could be quite physical towards Iain though that was probably due more to frustration over Iain’s rebellious attitude than any badness. Certainly there was no lasting animosity from son to father. Donnie Barclay, who would later live with the young John Martyn in London, recalls:




John was very protective of his father and his mother. His dad used to drink in the Corona Bar at Shawlands Cross all the time and the Masonic Club around the corner. Before we went to London we would go for pints with him – his father was a steady drinker back then, a social drinker, not the type of guy who would sit in the house. We were young guys but John always wanted to go to the bar with his dad when most teenagers would not be seen dead in public with their parents. In return, you could see that his father was proud of him.





Given his parents’ musical abilities, there was a sense of inevitability that Iain would follow in their footsteps. In 1964, he came under the wing of a music teacher fondly nicknamed ‘Boozy’ who was keen on having a couple of lunchtime pints at the nearby Sammy Dow’s pub. Iain’s brief flirtation with violin lessons ended after mickey-taking from his mates in the school rugby side. A couple of weeks later though, Iain was won over to the guitar while watching TV. The initial inspiration came from seeing Joan Baez play the song ‘Silver Dagger’. It was the first time he had heard finger-picking guitar playing and straight away he was a convert. Interest in the instrument turned to near obsession when he heard Davey Graham, the Leicester-born guitarist whose revolutionary guitar tunings effectively changed the way music was made and spawned a host of imitators. Graham first started playing guitar at the age of twelve and when only nineteen he had penned ‘Anji’ which was to become a benchmark for all young acoustic players. In the early 1960s he invented a new system of tuning – DADGAD – and following a trip to Tangiers he developed a unique mode of playing incorporating North African styles. Graham’s 1964 Decca album Folk, Blues and Beyond and the 1966 Decca release Midnight Man would become prime influences for Iain. Like just about every young guitarist of that era, from Bert Jansch to Jimmy Page, Iain worshipped at the altar of Davey Graham. He loved Graham’s mix of blues standards by artists like Gary Davis and radical takes on classic songs like ‘Summertime’. Much of the young John Martyn’s work – especially his first two albums – would owe a heavy debt to Davey Graham, though Martyn would soon move on and develop a style all his own. John told me:




A friend of mine called David MacFarlane, whose father was a conscientious objector – a terrible thing in those days – introduced me to all the protest music. His family were all lefties, I first heard Bob Dylan there. And then I heard Davey Graham and that was me gone. I loved Davey Graham’s ‘Anji’. That was the test piece – if you could play ‘Anji’ you were taken kind of seriously, you had the basics. Because you have to move the thumb and the forefinger at the same time as the other fingers. They’re both going in opposite directions, quite tricky. Davey Graham is a genius and such a nice guy, without him there wouldn’t be anyone like Bert Jansch, Renbourn or me. He’s the first of the great modern acoustic players.


My first guitar was a right dodgy thing borrowed from a guy called Johnny Briggs in Glasgow, who played for the Paisley Pirates ice hockey team. He was older than we were and all us kids wanted to be like this guy Johnny Briggs! I started to like the music and I actually begged my father for a guitar. I still have the first guitar I bought – it was a Rolif acoustic made in Bulgaria. And a very fine guitar it is too. I was in love with the thing; I used to run home from school to practise.





Iain paid for the guitar with money from his newspaper and milk delivery rounds. He was now looking the part of the teenage rebel, having grown his hair long and taken the unusual decision of declining to wear socks. His near neighbour Mo Barnes remembers how he used to sit wearing a long leather coat, playing his guitar on the wall under her window.1 His cousin Kirk – who went on to play guitar and sing with the Canadian folk band Orealis and sadly passed away in 2006 – told me how word quickly spread about young Iain’s musical talents.







Fairly early on I remember Uncle Tommy telling my dad that Iain had this amazing musical ability. As I got a bit older I began to realise and say to myself, ‘This boy can really play’. In his early teens he would play stuff like Duane Eddy or The Shadows along with songs like ‘Ghost Rider In The Sky’ and ‘Blue Moon’ on his record player. But a few years later he started getting into the blues. One of his prize possessions back then was a boxed set of LPs of American blues legends like Leadbelly and Blind Boy Fuller. He would just get totally into a trance listening to and learning this kind of stuff. I used to love going through to Glasgow to visit back then. He would play me all the new stuff he’d been learning and I’d record it on my reel-to-reel recorder. He was a major influence on me musically. He taught me to play ‘Anji’ and introduced me to all sorts of new music and techniques. He handed down all the old songbooks he’d finished with (many of them old Oak publications). He was a generous, loving guy and we got on very well. He was also quite a hippie back then; I remember one summer, he went to Morocco and he came back with a box full of marzipan-type sweets and his dad thought it was some sort of hash!





As his interest in music grew, Iain still managed to excel at school. One classmate, who preferred to remain anonymous, recalls:




He was very bright and seemed to have a fantastic general knowledge. He was outstanding at English and this was recognised by our English teacher ‘Wild Bill’, who had a fearsome reputation for breaking kids’ wrists with the belt, though in reality he hardly ever used it. Anyway, he tolerated McGeachy’s mischievous behaviour and he obviously recognised Iain’s talent. I can remember McGeachy sitting in class making flies for fishing and being allowed to do it – while the rest of us would get bollockings for even dropping a pencil! I can also remember him getting up to various pranks in the Latin class to irritate the teachers. But really he wasn’t a bad pupil – just a typical, fidgety, slightly hypersensitive lad.





Davie MacFarlane remembers how Iain was growing into a good-looking albeit chubby-faced lad with a reputation for being something of a brainbox – though that predictably turned some pupils against him. 




I remember him writing a composition once about poaching and we were all gobsmacked by this wonderful descriptive writing of the moon and the water etc. But because he was so smart he was sometimes given a hard time by some of his schoolmates. I wouldn’t call it bullying but there was a bit of name-calling, things like ‘Keechie McGeachy’.2 But I think that was more caused by envy on the part of other kids because he was so bright.


When the rugby season was over, we would spend our Saturday afternoons going into town and buying records by people like Ray Charles, Son House, Leadbelly and Big Bill Broonzy. He used to come around to my house; my dad used to be into people like Pete Seeger and Matt McGinn and we would listen to those records but we were more into people like Davey Graham and Bert Jansch – Iain idolised these guys.





Aside from Graham and Jansch, Iain was also listening to John Renbourn and Roy Harper – acoustic players who were already starting to make a mark on the London folk scene while Iain was still in school. Jansch’s debut album was a particular favourite and Iain also took a liking to the Edinburgh guitarist’s image as a rebel with a taste for the underground scene and a liking for smoking grass. Other early idols were even more exotic. Visitors to the Tantallon Road house were soon listening to obscure artists like the blind New Orleans guitarist Snooks Eaglin and Chess Records imports. Iain was a young man with mature tastes – the acoustic blues of Robert Johnson, Blind Lemon Jefferson, Bukka White and the political singer Pete Seeger.




*





Looking back on his early years, John Martyn was always adamant that they were happy days. Occasionally when full of drink he would cry out that he was ‘a child of a broken home’ but always the words were said in jest. Iain David McGeachy undoubtedly did have a happy childhood and was never short of love and affection. But those who know him are convinced that the unusual circumstances of his upbringing had a serious effect on the way his life and career developed. One close friend from Shawlands Academy thought that his mother’s absence had a real impact on Iain, but it was a subject that was seldom mentioned. ‘He never really spoke about his mother to me but I do think it had a big effect on him … she just got up one day and basically left him behind.’ Iain’s first serious girlfriend, Linda Dunning, remembers how Iain missed the presence of his mum and was self-conscious of the fact that he was not the same as other classmates who saw their mother on a daily basis.




I believe that Iain had essentially a good childhood, being raised by his father and granny. I loved his father dearly; he was a wonderful man and did a great job bringing up Iain. If Iain was a child now, where divorce is commonplace, it may not have had such an effect. In those days no one was divorced. He did visit his mum on holidays, and looked forward to those times very much. But I remember him telling me about his aunt who lived at his home for a while. When it was school sports day he would ask his aunt to attend and pretend she was his mum, because he did not want the other kids to know that his mum lived in England.





Equally telling is Kirk McGeachy’s answer to the question of where the deep hurt evident in John Martyn’s later music comes from.




I know there is a lot of angst in John’s music and I think that kind of comes from the fact that his mother sort of disowned him at an early age. I guess he must have had a hard time growing up without a mother figure. John is quite a proud guy and he probably wouldn’t like people to think that it got him down.





Some would argue that – in a roundabout way – coming from a broken home actually spurred Iain on to great things and made him even more eager to succeed in life. Ralph McTell, who became one of the best known names to emanate from the London folk club scene, told me how Iain’s family background was far from unique among the batch of great singer-songwriters who emerged during the 1960s.




There is a deep dark hurt within John Martyn, which stems from way back. He may well have had a happy childhood. I had a happy childhood but I was a deserted child from a broken home and we went without and had lots of things missing in our lives. No one goes on stage without seeking approval and admiration for their talent. John was especially like that, if not you just go and play your chops in some wee jazz band. John wanted more. If you do a quick survey of musicians you will be astonished about how many of them come from broken homes. People like Wizz Jones, Bert Jansch, Roy Harper, John Renbourn and myself – all from broken homes. When you have a hurt like John has, you can either become all reclusive or you can come out fighting – John does the latter.









1. The idea of young Iain playing his guitar out on the street under his neighbour’s window may seem fanciful but I suspect it is true and probably came from his infatuation with Davey Graham. A clip of Graham playing ‘Cry Me A River’ outdoors in a 1959 BBC documentary directed by Ken Russell was almost certainly an influence on Iain and can still be seen on YouTube.







2. It may sound harmless to the non-Scot but the nickname ‘Keechie’ was far from complimentary. The Scottish Vernacular Dictionary defines the word as ‘rubbish, detritus and crap, excreta – human or otherwise’!

























‘I never took lessons from anybody!’







Hamish [Imlach] was very kind to me – he was my guide and mentor… an incredibly generous man, wild in spirit but just totally socialist with a wonderful sense of humour. I miss him terribly.


John Martyn




 





[Iain] was very intelligent, artistic and unusual. We listened to Bob Dylan, Donovan, the Rolling Stones, but I was always aware that he had musical interests that were beyond my level. He liked Joan Baez and Joni Mitchell and he would talk a lot about Davey Graham and Big Bill Broonzy.


Linda Dunning





Music may have been an obsession for Iain but, as with any teenager, there were other more pressing hormonal demands. His cousin Kirk recalls that even in his early teens Iain was blessed with good looks and always in demand with girls.




I remember when I was about sixteen, Iain and I would get dolled up and head out on the town on a Saturday night with our respective girlfriends. Sometimes we’d end up getting home pretty late, sitting on the big kitchen table in Tantallon Road comparing our evenings and having a few laughs. He was a good-looking boy even then.





Decked out in bell-bottom jeans and an army surplus jacket, or long fur coat along with the trademark sandals, or old tennis shoes without socks, Iain stuck out from the crowd at the regular Saturday night dances at the local Whitecraigs Tennis Club. 


At one such dance in November 1964, he met and fell in love with the girl who was to be his sweetheart for the next four years, until he left Glasgow and headed south to London. Back in 1964, Linda Dunning was a pupil at the slightly more upmarket, fee-paying Hutchesons Grammar School. Five feet four, with fringed, long, dark blonde hair, Linda and her classmates made regular weekend trips to the tennis club to dance to local bands like Dean Ford and the Gaylords. (Who would later gain success when they changed their name to Marmalade.) Much to the horror of their school principal, many of the Hutchie girls ended up romancing with the boys from the less salubrious Shawlands Academy. In fact Linda was suspended from school at one point when the principal saw her walking hand in hand with Iain. Linda, who now works in real estate in Detroit, Michigan, recalls how Iain always stood out as being just a little bit cooler than the rest.




He had long curly hair, was baby-faced and was very cute. He was very clever, but he was a real rebel. If I remember correctly when I first met him he was on probation for some minor offence. We pretty much fell in love right away, and vowed to spend our lives together. We even decided to have four children and had names picked out. It was really a very sweet and simple time in our lives. He did like poetry but when we were together he did not spend much time reading – we were teenagers with hopping hormones!





Linda became a source of inspiration for the young musician and many of the songs that would emerge on his first albums can be traced back to those teenage years. Iain would meet Linda after school and the pair spent many happy hours together in the Queens Park while Iain strummed away on his acoustic guitar. Weekends were usually reserved for hanging out with friends at the Embassy café, the local Wimpy bar or at the two cinemas in the area – The Waverley and The Embassy. The high-point though was always the tennis club dance, which attracted gangs of youths loaded up on booze and invariably looking for trouble. Linda remembers that Iain was not shy in defending the honour of her or a friend. 




There were often fights at these dances. Gangs would show up looking for trouble and Iain would jump in to defend, whatever the issue was. It was typical in those times that the boys would show up with a ‘bevvy’ [drunk]. He was extremely possessive and would get very jealous and we would argue if he thought some other guy liked me. He would usually escort me home on the last bus from Shawlands to Newton Mearns where I lived, and then would have to walk home. He did get picked up by the police a few times on the walk home, not because he was doing anything, but probably because of the way he looked. My parents did not like him because of the way he looked, especially if the friends or neighbours made negative comments.





When Iain came to collect Linda for a night out, the neighbours’ curtains started twitching.




According to my mother, the neighbours in our nice estate in Newton Mearns used to watch from their windows to see what get-up I was wearing when I was going out with Iain. I was usually wearing bell-bottom jeans, kaftans and a long, flowing black cape with a purple satin lining. Some of these things I would design and make myself. We had reefer jackets, and some army surplus gear, and a healthy collection of Ban the Bomb badges. For special occasions, like dances, I would wear mini, mini-skirts and long boots. Iain would even surprise me and wear a suit to these dances. One lady who was new to the area even commented at a Tupperware party that ‘one of those hippies lived in the estate’!





In a later interview with Zigzag magazine in April/May 1974, John Martyn would make mention of occasional violent incidents during his teenage years. He recalls having to:




Kick a few heads in or get looked upon as a pansy … You don’t have any choice up there, either you’re violent or you’re a weed. And I haven’t got the capacity for being trodden on. I’m a natural born coward just like everybody else, but I don’t like being taken advantage of. I’m probably still the same now. But at the time it was just either eat or be eaten … There were fights in school all the time and knives were bandied about.





However, there’s probably an element here of John exaggerating for a southern audience. True, Glasgow then, as now, had a reputation as a mean city with high levels of gang-related crime and Martyn’s friends recall how Iain often had to run the gauntlet of abuse from local hard men who took objection to his pretty boy looks and who really seemed to hate youths who dared to wear their hair long. The city’s main thoroughfare Sauchiehall Street even had the nickname back then of ‘Murder Mile’ which would hardly have filled young Iain with confidence as he prepared to head into the city centre on a Friday night. But his assertion that he came from ‘a very stroppy part of town’ doesn’t ring true. It’s safe to say that life on Glasgow’s South Side in the 1960s wasn’t all knife fights and gang culture. One suspects few gang members would say, as Martyn did, that their earliest musical memory was their mum playing Debussy’s ‘La Cathédrale Engloutie’! His contemporaries say that knives were never carried at school. One classmate told me:




It is normal for the Glasgow hard man image to follow people around but Iain was never really that type of guy. There was the odd scrap – but he was more likely to run like hell or cross the road from a real fight. I’m sure when he went to London it did him no harm to cultivate the hard man reputation. The alternative image – of a former Academy boy with a blazer – was hardly the correct image in the rebellious 1960s.





As he became more confident on the guitar, Iain began to hang out with like-minded individuals including Josh McCrae, a guitarist who eventually recorded a song called ‘Messin’ About On The River’. McCrae inadvertently had a hand in Iain’s stage debut in 1966 – a concert which would be his one and only major gig under his own name. The venue was a charity concert at the Langside Borough Halls, just two blocks from Iain’s family home. When McCrae – who was meant to be the star attraction – got drunk in a local pub, Iain was the only one who could fill the spot. He was eventually persuaded to take the stage for a set, which lasted about thirty minutes, to warm applause from the audience. Memories of the concert are sketchy but John remembered that he did perform ‘Fairy Tale Lullaby’, the only song he had written by then. A few months later he was paid £11 for a gig at The Black Bull pub in Dollar, but by then Iain McGeachy was performing under the name of John Martyn. Changing one’s name at such a young age is certainly an unusual step and psychiatrists might argue that it signifies an attempt to escape from an unhappy childhood, disown one’s parentage, or even show an early confirmation of ruthless ambition. In John Martyn’s case the truth is less convoluted. Sandy Glennon, a friend back in the 1960s who would later act as John’s agent, simply thought that Iain David McGeachy sounded too Scottish and was more appropriate for a traditional folk artist. Glennon, who had run the Excelsior Club in London’s Charing Cross Road, opted for the surname Martyn in honour of their favourite guitar maker. John told me:




In those days there was no traditional scene as such. You had to be American-sounding. I was more influenced by American music than Scottish music but the name Martyn was his idea – it had to have the ‘y’ in it, to sound posh.





Linda Dunning remembers Iain being very excited about having a stage name and that it made him feel like he had hit the big time long before he actually did. She also points out that both his parents were performers with stage names, so in that sense it was not an unusual thing for Iain to consider. Linda secretly feared that the name change was a sign that she was losing Iain. She would soon have her worst fears confirmed.


Around this time, a friend of Iain’s father from the local Masonic lodge, Billy Synott, who had a love of folk music and socialist politics, spotted Iain’s nascent talent. Synott actually made guitars and was an early influence on Martyn, helping him to adopt a bluesier style of playing. Synott was friendly with the traditional folk singer and raconteur Hamish Imlach and soon introduced the two men. Weighing in at around three hundred pounds, the much loved Imlach was already a sizeable presence on the Scottish scene – eventually going on to record three dozen albums which blended boozy ribald tunes with more serious left-wing content and antinuclear protest songs. Imlach’s initial notoriety came from leading a group of musicians and bevvy merchants known as the Broomhill Bums. Young talents like Josh McCrae and Archie Fisher became fixtures at Hamish’s big West End home, holding a party in the converted stables that lasted – off and on – for around nineteen months. The moonshine sessions became so legendary that even visiting American musicians like Sonny Terry and Brownie McGhee visited the stables while on tour in Scotland. (John recalled how the two men wouldn’t speak to each other on stage and how they had separate dressing rooms.) Imlach’s crew used to contribute money to help bring people like Reverend Gary Davis and Tom Paxton over to play in Scotland. John remembered how at those concerts rogues would sell pound-deals of ‘hash’ to punters, which turned out to be a deadly mix of henna, chalk and black boot polish.


Imlach and Martyn became close friends. The young novice was soon carrying Imlach’s guitar to gigs and playing a short set for handy cash on the same bill as Imlach and other influential players in the folk revival of the 1960s such as Archie Fisher and Josh McCrae. Imlach may have had a well earned reputation as a heavy drinker, but he was no fool. With no formal training, he was self-taught on guitar, picking up songs and techniques from the likes of Brownie McGhee along the way. Born in Calcutta, Imlach played his first professional gigs in the early 1960s and helped to start the influential Glasgow Folk Club (founded by Ewan McVicar and Drew Moyes) in the city’s Trongate. Imlach became the resident singer there on Saturday nights and during the afternoons he earned good money – thirty shillings a lesson – giving tuition to young guitarists. As he explained in his autobiography:




We were kept going by giving lessons in the secret art of guitar playing to the younger generation. In Edinburgh, Archie [Fisher] was teaching Owen Hand, Robin Williamson and Bert Jansch. In Glasgow, I was giving lessons to John Martyn and the boxer Jim Watt!





John had a different take on his friendship with Imlach. He told me that he never had any trust in teachers, fearing that he would end up inevitably playing in their style. And he never bought a chord book or learned to read music to help his education. He preferred to watch the players’ fingers on stage and if necessary to talk to them after the show for advice. John explained:




I never took lessons from anybody! I used to watch the hands but I never took lessons as such … I used to go to Hamish’s house on Sundays for Spaghetti Bolognese, which was like a ritual thing. They kind of adopted me, really.





John also shared Imlach’s socialist outlook and took part in the CND marches to London at that time.


Imlach encouraged Martyn to expand his playing into blues, ragtime, country, traditional Gaelic tunes and gentle Dylanesque songs. In an interview with Zigzag magazine in 1974, John recalled:




At that time I’d been chucked out of art school for being nasty and silly, and I didn’t have much money – I was earning my money playing darts in those days, making about two quid a day.





Hamish Imlach had undoubted musical talents but his interests in life invariably centred on having a good time. His autobiography is soaked in tales of heavy boozing sessions, dirty jokes and ‘cairry-oots’. This was a man who lived by the motto ‘I would hate to die with a heart attack and have a good liver, kidneys and brain. When I die I want everything to be knackered!’ And this was the man who in many ways shaped the career and outlook on life of the kid who would become John Martyn. It could be argued that it’s a maxim that John adopted himself. (Throughout his career, Martyn would be inexorably drawn to individuals whose insecurities led to excesses and addictions.) The tradesman-apprentice relationship lasted for about eighteen months but they were to remain friends right up to Imlach’s death in 1996. When Imlach’s autobiography was first published, pride of place on the sleeve notes went to Martyn, who asserted that without the encouragement and patience of the big man quite a few careers, including his own and Billy Connolly’s, might never have got off the ground.


Linda Dunning confirms that Imlach played a pivotal role in John Martyn’s early musical development.




Hamish was quite a jolly, gregarious guy and he took Iain with him on lots of gigs. We spent one New Year’s Eve at the Imlachs’ home in Motherwell. Many of the known Scottish musicians were there, including Billy Connolly. Hamish’s wife and kids were there and prior to that night I was not even aware that he was married. His lifestyle on the road was not that of a married man with a family. It was obvious his wife and family adored him and likewise he adored them, but he still had his other women. He made a marvellous huge pot of lamb curry that night and served it at 4 a.m. He was definitely a mentor to Iain in those early days. Because he was so highly regarded in the world of folk music, he later introduced Iain in the many clubs and pubs around the UK.





Donnie Barclay also saw up close the influence that Imlach had on Iain. Donnie was working as an apprentice panel beater when he first met Iain in a pub on Pollockshaws Road called the Kind Man. The pair had a shared interest in music and darts and soon gained a reputation as local hustlers on the darts board. Iain in particular was a very good player and excelled in games where drinks were at stake. The ‘doubles for doubles’ games helped finance many a drinking session for Iain and Donnie, who recalls:




The first night I spoke to Iain he invited me back to his granny’s house to listen to some of the great LP’s he had borrowed from Hamish – lots of obscure blues, contemporary American folk and stuff by Jansch, Renbourn and Graham. Iain’s bedroom was very spartan, with a very basic record player, and hadn’t been decorated in ages although compared to my wee council house bedroom it was massive. I am a guitarist myself but listening to Iain play I soon realised he was special and it was a real privilege to be there at the start of the career of a true original. Every time I went to his house he played me a new song that he had written.





Donnie became a trusted confidante of the young singer-songwriter, travelling with him around the country and backing him 100% when trouble arose. And right from the off, there was always going to be trouble when Iain/ John was around. A lot of the established folkies were jealous of how easy Iain made it look and would talk about him behind his back. Hamish Imlach though, was different and was a lot more supportive of the young tyro. Donnie explains:




Hamish was one of the best entertainers you could ever meet and I think he knew at once that Iain had a great talent and wanted to develop it. He used to drive us to folk clubs around the UK and it was Hamish who usually got Iain on the bill for those gigs. Hamish drove a small mini car which was maybe not the ideal car for someone of his stature. I would meet him and Iain in the Montrose Bar in Glasgow and we would just head off to do these gigs in places like the north of England. Sometimes though Iain and I would just travel to gigs on a bus.


We were invariably skint and in those days you could only get into a gig for nothing if you were playing so usually I ended up telling the organisers that I was his fiddle player but that I had left the fiddle on the bus. But I ended up getting worried that they might produce a fiddle from somewhere that I couldn’t play so Iain told me to say that I was his Serengi player. I said to him ‘what the fuck is a Serengi’ and he told me it was a multi-stringed Indian instrument. But then I asked what would happen if someone produced a Serengi for me to play and Iain replied ‘well then I’ll take you to the toilets and jump on your fucking hand so you won’t be able to play it!’
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